No. 44461-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Jennifer Markwith,**

Appellant.

---

Mason County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00174-0

The Honorable Judge Amber L. Finlay

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Skylar T. Brett  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Ms. Markwith's convictions for assault and reckless endangerment violated her Eighth Amendment right to be free from double jeopardy.
2. Ms. Markwith's convictions for assault and reckless endangerment violated her state constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy.
3. The trial court's nonstandard instruction on reasonable doubt violated Ms. Markwith's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
4. The trial court's nonstandard instruction on reasonable doubt erroneously failed to instruct jurors that Ms. Markwith had no burden to raise a reasonable doubt.
5. Ms. Markwith's conviction was based in part on propensity evidence, in violation of her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
6. The trial court erred by denying Ms. Markwith's motion to exclude evidence of prior misconduct.
7. The trial court should have excluded evidence that Ms. Markwith smashed Bell's car window the night preceding the incident with Tecpile.
8. Ms. Markwith was deprived of her Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
9. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by introducing evidence that Ms. Markwith smashed Bell's car window the night before the incident with Tecpile.
10. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to seek an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of prior misconduct evidence.
11. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to comments on Ms. Markwith's exercise of her right to remain silent.
12. Ms. Markwith's convictions were entered in violation of her Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination.



13. The prosecutor unconstitutionally commented on Ms. Markwith's right to remain silent by eliciting testimony that she stopped answering questions after administration of *Miranda* warnings.
14. Deputy McGill unconstitutionally commented on Ms. Markwith's right to remain silent by testifying that she stopped answering questions after administration of *Miranda* warnings.

### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Double jeopardy prohibits multiple convictions for a single offense. Here, Ms. Markwith's convictions for assault and reckless endangerment stemmed from the same conduct. Did the two convictions violate Ms. Markwith's state and federal constitutional rights to be free from double jeopardy?
2. A trial court must define reasonable doubt and the burden of proof using WPIC 4.01. Here, the court used an instruction that omitted a critical portion of that instruction. Did the court violate Ms. Markwith's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process by failing to tell jurors that she had no burden of proving the existence of a reasonable doubt?
3. A criminal conviction may not be based on propensity evidence. In this case, the jury heard evidence that Ms. Markwith smashed the rear window of Bell's car the night before the incident with Tecpile, and the state argued that this evidence showed her violent disposition. Did Ms. Markwith's convictions violate her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because they were based in part on propensity evidence?
4. ER 403 and ER 404(b) prohibit introduction of evidence of prior uncharged misconduct, except in limited circumstances. Here, the court denied defense counsel's motion to exclude evidence that Ms. Markwith "intimidated" Bell the night before the incident with Ms. Tecpile. Did the trial court err by

denying Ms. Markwith's motion to exclude evidence of uncharged prior misconduct?

5. An accused person is guaranteed the effective assistance of counsel. Here, defense counsel unreasonably introduced evidence that Ms. Markwith smashed Bell's car window the night before the incident with Ms. Tecpile, failed to seek an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of that evidence, and failed to object to Deputy McGill's comments on Ms. Markwith's decision to stop answering questions during custodial interrogation. Did counsel's deficient performance prejudice Ms. Markwith in violation of her Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel?
  
6. An accused person may stop answering questions at any time during custodial interrogation, and the decision not to cooperate may not be used as evidence of guilt at trial. Here, the state introduced testimony that Ms. Markwith stopped answering questions following administration of *Miranda* warnings. Did the prosecutor infringe Ms. Markwith's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment privilege against self incrimination?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Jennifer Markwith and her partner, Yvonne Bell, lived in a barn on property belonging to Jose and Angela Tecpile. RP 70, 78, 115, 155. Ms. Markwith and Bell had permission to enter the Tecpile's house as needed to use the bathroom and kitchen. RP 71, 79, 92-93, 129, 156. Ms. Markwith and Bell stored their food in the house kitchen and their perishables in a refrigerator in the garage, which was accessed by walking through the house. RP 75, 156-57, 168.

One evening in April, Ms. Markwith and Bell had a disagreement, which resulted in Bell sleeping on the couch in the Tecpile house for the night. RP 115-16, 158. That same night, Ms. Tecpile informed Ms. Markwith that she needed to pack her belongings and move out of the barn. RP 79, 117, 158-59. The next morning, Ms. Markwith went to look for Bell in the Tecpile house. RP 116, 169-70. Ms. Tecpile wouldn't let Ms. Markwith enter the house. RP 116. Ms. Tecpile assaulted Ms. Markwith. RP 159-60. Ms. Markwith called 911 and Ms. Tecpile was arrested. RP 76, 119-20, 160.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Bell later claimed that Ms. Markwith had inflicted injuries upon herself to make it look as though she had been assaulted. RP 119.

After Ms. Tecpile's arrest, Ms. Markwith began packing her belongings from the barn and house. RP 160-61, 172.

Upon picking her up from jail later that morning, Mr. Tecpile informed Ms. Tecpile that he had seen Ms. Markwith drop a video game controller on the ground as she was packing. RP 65. There was no evidence regarding whether Ms. Markwith owned any video game equipment. RP 63-182. Ms. Tecpile called 911 to report a theft. RP 77. When the Tecpiles arrived home, Ms. Markwith was not there. RP 78. Ms. Tecpile noticed that some DVDs and video game paraphernalia were missing. RP 78.

The Tecpiles ran an errand and saw Ms. Markwith driving in the direction of the Tecpile home. RP 67, 80, 101. The Tecpiles got back into their car to follow Ms. Markwith to the property. RP 80. When they arrived, Ms. Markwith was packing her belongings into the car from the barn. RP 121, 162. Mr. Tecpile purposely parked his car so that Ms. Markwith was not able to leave via the driveway. RP 69, 81, 107, 122, 162. Ms. Tecpile called 911 a second time. RP 81.

Ms. Tecpile got out of the car and confronted Ms. Markwith, saying that she would not be permitted to leave the property until the police arrived. RP 81. Hoping to avoid another physical confrontation, Ms. Markwith got into her car and left the property by driving through a

barbed-wire fence near the driveway. RP 82, 123, 125, 141, 162-63. The route Ms. Markwith took was the only exit route available to her. RP 87, 132, 167. Ms. Tecpile testified that Ms. Markwith drove the car in her direction and that she had to jump out of the way to avoid being hit. RP 82.

Daniel Irwin, who also lived in the Tecpile home, was standing nearby. RP 82, 103. The barbed wire from the fence dragged behind the car and knocked Irwin's walker over, causing him to fall. RP 82, 103. Irwin cut his finger during the fall. RP 103-04. Ms. Tecpile called 911 a third time. RP 83.

Later that day, Ms. Markwith met up with Mason County Sheriff Deputy Ken McGill because she wanted to discuss Ms. Tecpile's assault on her that morning. RP 126, 133, 165. McGill arrested Ms. Markwith based on Tecpile's 911 report. RP 140, 165.

The state charged Ms. Markwith with second-degree assault, reckless endangerment, and residential burglary. CP 19-20.

At trial, the court denied Ms. Markwith's motion *in limine* to exclude evidence that she had "intimidated" Bell the night before the incident. RP 110. The court stated that the evidence was admissible because it was relevant to Bell's state of mind and to explain why Bell was sleeping in the house instead of in the barn. RP 113.

On direct-examination, Bell testified that she slept in the house instead of the barn the night before the incident because she was having “disagreements” with Ms. Markwith. RP 116. On cross-examination, defense counsel asked why Bell had needed a ride back to the Tecpile residence after Ms. Markwith was arrested. RP 134. Bell responded that she couldn’t drive her own car because, on the night before the incident, Ms. Markwith had smashed the rear window of Bell’s car with a baseball bat. RP 135.

On cross-examination of Ms. Markwith, the prosecutor used this evidence to accuse her of being “angry” and “a fighter.” RP 171-72. In closing, the prosecutor invited the jury to “imagine the force that it takes to smash out the window of a car, the massive amount of force that it takes, the massive amount of anger that generates.” RP 220.

During direct-examination of Deputy McGill, the state elicited testimony that after her arrest Ms. Markwith “got tired of [him] asking her questions real quick.” RP 141. Ms. Markwith cut off questioning by using obscenities and accusing McGill of using drugs. RP 141-42.

McGill told the jury that he “couldn’t get anything out of her.” RP 141-42. Defense counsel did not object to this testimony. RP 141-42.<sup>2</sup>

At the close of evidence, the court gave a reasonable doubt instruction that differed from the pattern instruction. The court’s instruction omitted the sentence providing “The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.” Instruction 3, Court’s Instructions, Supp. CP.

The jury found Ms. Markwith guilty of each of the three charges. RP 243; CP 5. After sentencing, Ms. Markwith timely appealed. CP 4.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. MS. MARKWITH’S CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH ASSAULT AND RECKLESS ENDANGERMENT VIOLATED THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY.**

#### **A. Standard of Review.**

Double jeopardy violations are constitutional issues reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Womac*, 160 Wn.2d 643, 649, 160 P.3d 40 (2007). Double jeopardy violations constitute manifest error affecting a constitutional right, which can be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Turner*, 102 Wn. App. 202, 206, 6 P.3d 1226 (2000); RAP 2.5(a)(3).

---

<sup>2</sup> In response to Ms. Markwith’s unsuccessful motion *in limine* to exclude testimony regarding her use of obscenities, the prosecutor agreed not to elicit testimony about Ms. Markwith’s exercise of her right to remain silent. RP 58.

B. Ms. Markwith's convictions for assault and reckless endangerment constitute double jeopardy under the "same evidence" test.

Both the Washington state and federal constitutions prohibit double jeopardy by multiple punishments for a single offense. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9; *In re Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 (2004). The Blockburger<sup>3</sup> or "same evidence" test controls the double jeopardy analysis unless there is a clear indication that the legislature intended otherwise. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. Under the *Blockburger* test, multiple convictions based on a single act violate double jeopardy if the evidence necessary to support a conviction for one offense would also have been sufficient to support a conviction for the other. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

The legal elements of the offenses are not dispositive of the *Blockburger* test for double jeopardy. *Womac*, 160 Wn.2d at 652. The *Orange* court, for example, found that convictions for first degree attempted murder and first degree assault violated double jeopardy even though attempted murder required the additional element of intent to cause death. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 820. The court held that, because the offenses were both based on the single act of firing one shot at another

---

<sup>3</sup> *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932).



person, the evidence required for attempted murder was sufficient to support the assault conviction. *Id*; see also *State v. Martin*, 149 Wn. App. 689, 699, 205 P.3d 931 (2009) (finding that convictions for assault and attempted rape violated double jeopardy despite different legal elements).

The reckless endangerment statute provides that:

A person is guilty of reckless endangerment when he or she recklessly engages in conduct not amounting to drive-by shooting but that creates a substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to another person.

RCW 9A.36.050.

For unit of prosecution purposes, a reckless endangerment charge applies to a single person. *State v. Graham*, 153 Wn.2d 400, 103 P.3d 1238 (2005).

Second degree assault includes intentional assault with a deadly weapon. RCW 9A.36.021(1)(c). Assault is defined, *inter alia*, as

An act done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily injury. Instruction 16, Court's Instructions, Supp CP.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> Though the jury was instructed on all three alternative definitions of assault, it is apparent from the evidence and the state's theory in closing that Ms. Markwith's conviction was based on placing Tecpile in reasonable apprehension of bodily injury.

Ms. Markwith's reckless endangerment conviction was based on the same act of allegedly driving toward Ms. Tecpile and Bell. RP 224-25.<sup>5</sup>

To find Ms. Markwith guilty of assaulting Ms. Tecpile, the jury had to find that she drove the car with the intent to cause apprehension of bodily injury and that Ms. Tecpile was reasonably placed in such apprehension. Instruction 16, Court's Instructions, Supp CP. In order to find her guilty of reckless endangerment, the jury had to find that Ms. Markwith drove the car in a reckless manner and created a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury. RCW 9A.36.050.

The jury was instructed that an act is reckless if it is also intentional. Instruction 20, Court's Instructions, Supp CP. Thus, the *mens rea* element necessary to convict on the assault charge was also sufficient to convict on the reckless endangerment charge. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816.

Under the evidence here, in order to find Ms. Markwith guilty of assault the jury also had to find that she drove toward Tecpile in a manner

---

<sup>5</sup> It was not completely clear whom the state claimed had been endangered by Ms. Markwith's conduct. The state amended the Information on the final day of trial to remove a reference to Ms. Tecpile "and/or" Irwin as the alleged victims of the reckless endangerment charge. RP 193-96. The amended information did not name an alleged victim of the reckless endangerment charge. CP 19-20. This is despite the fact that reckless endangerment applies to a single person for double jeopardy purposes. *Graham*, 153 Wn.2d at 400.

that placed her in reasonable apprehension of bodily injury. Driving toward Tecpile in such a manner would also have been sufficient to find that Ms. Markwith had created a substantial risk of death or serious bodily injury. RCW 9A.36.050. The evidence necessary to convict on the assault charge would also have been sufficient to convict on reckless endangerment. *Orange*, 152 Wn.2d at 816. Thus, conviction for both violated the prohibition against double jeopardy. *Id.*

Ms. Markwith's convictions for both reckless endangerment and second-degree assault based on the same evidence violated the constitutional protection against double jeopardy. *Id.* Ms. Markwith's convictions must be reversed. *Id.* at 821.

## **II. THE COURT'S NONSTANDARD REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION RELIEVED THE STATE OF ITS BURDEN OF PROOF.**

### **A. Standard of Review.**

An appellate court reviews jury instructions *de novo*. *State v. Peters*, 163 Wn. App. 836, 847, 261 P.3d 199 (2011). A jury instruction relieving the state of its burden of proof can constitute manifest error affecting a constitutional right raised for the first time on review. *Id.*; RAP 2.5(a)(3).

- B. The court’s reasonable doubt instruction omitted critical language and failed to make the standard manifestly clear.

Due process requires jurors to presume an accused person’s innocence. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV. The presumption of innocence is “the bedrock upon which the criminal justice system stands.” *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 315, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

A court commits reversible error when it instructs the jury in a manner relieving the state of its burden of proving each element beyond a reasonable doubt. *Peters*, 163 Wn. App. at 847. Although the constitution does not require specific wording, jury instructions “must define reasonable doubt and clearly communicate that the state carries the burden of proof.” *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 307 (citing *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 280–81, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993)). To that end, the Washington Supreme Court has used its inherent supervisory authority to order lower courts to instruct juries on the burden of proof using WPIC 4.01. That instruction reads as follows:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.*

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

WPIC 4.01 (certain bracketed material omitted; emphasis added); *Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d at 308.

A trial court may not give a reasonable doubt instruction that differs from the WPIC. *State v. Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. 466, 472, 208 P.3d 1201 (2009); *State v. Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. 865, 870-871, 256 P.3d 466 (2011). Divisions I and II approach the issue of harmless error differently. Division I does not evaluate *Bennett* errors for harmless error. *Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. at 473. Division I has noted that “the [*Bennett*] court neither said nor implied that lower courts were free to ignore the directive if they could find the error of failing to give WPIC 4.01 harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* By contrast, Division II applies the harmless error standard for constitutional error. *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. at 870-871.

Even under Division II’s approach, the error here requires reversal. In *Lundy*, the trial court used a modified instruction, which differed only slightly from the pattern instruction. *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. at 870-71. The instruction unequivocally informed jurors “that the defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.” *Id.*, at 873. Because the

instruction correctly communicated the burden of proof and the reasonable doubt standard, the *Lundy* court found the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*, at 872-873.

Here, the court omitted the sentence reading: “The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.” Instruction 3, Court’s Instructions, Supp. CP. This instruction presents the same error at issue in *Castillo*. It differs significantly from the instruction addressed by the *Lundy* court.

Unlike the instructions in *Bennett* and *Lundy*, Instruction 3 provided an incomplete statement regarding the burden of proof. The trial court in this case neglected to tell jurors that Ms. Markwith had no burden. In other words, Instruction 3 did not make the relevant standard manifestly apparent to the average juror. *State v. Kylo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). The instruction left open the possibility that Ms. Markwith had the burden of raising a reasonable doubt. The same error persuaded Division I to reverse.<sup>6</sup> *Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. at 473.

The trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury that Ms. Markwith had no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt existed.

---

<sup>6</sup> The instruction in *Castillo* suffered from other flaws as well.

*Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. at 473. This instructional error requires reversal of Ms. Markwith's conviction. *Id.*

**III. MS. MARKWITH'S CONVICTIONS WERE BASED IN PART ON PROPENSITY EVIDENCE, IN VIOLATION OF HER FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.**

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *Bellevue School Dist. v. E.S.*, 171 Wn.2d 695, 702, 257 P.3d 570 (2011).

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