No. 44461-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

JENNIFER MARKWITH, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Amber Finlay

No. 12-1-00174-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL DORCY Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By

TIM HIGGS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH; (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

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

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

The instant convictions are not the same in law in fact. In fact, one involves an apprehension of harm against Angela, and the other involves reckless conduct that endangered Irwin. In law, one involves intent to assault, and the other involves reckless conduct that endangers another. Thus, neither offense is identical in either law or fact, and conviction of both offense does not violate double jeopardy. *State v. Womac*, 160 Wn.2d 643, 160 P.3d 40 (2007).

2. Although the court's instructions to the jury in this case erroneously varied from the standard WPIC instructions by inadvertently omitting a sentence to instruct the jury that "[t]he defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists", the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt on the facts of this case.

The trial court, apparently inadvertently, provided a "reasonable doubt" jury instruction that differed from WPIC 4.01 because it erroneously omitted the sentence that "[t]he defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists." CP 27 (Jury Instruction No. 3). The State contends that this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

;

The trial court in the instant case instructed the jury in Instruction

No. 3, as follows:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State of Washington is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, after such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

RP 204-05; CP 27. The instruction provided to the jury differed from the pattern WPIC instruction because it, apparently inadvertently, omitted the following sentence, which appears at the end of the first paragraph of the pattern instruction, as follows: "The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists *[as to these elements]*." 11 Wash. Prac., Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 4.01 (3d Ed) (brackets and italics appear in original). Markwith contends that omission of this sentence is error that entitles her to a new trial. Appellant's Opening Brief at 9-13.

A challenged jury instruction is reviewed de novo, in the context

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

of the instructions as a whole. *State v. Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. 466, 469, 208 P.3d 1201 (2009). Instructions must convey to the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of a criminal offense beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Bennett*, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). Instructions must also properly inform the jury about the applicable law, not mislead the jury, and permit each party to argue its theory of the case. *Id.* It is reversible error to instruct the jury in a manner relieving the State of its burden to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

But an erroneous jury instruction is "generally subject to a constitutional harmless error analysis." *State v. Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. 865, 871, 256 P.3d 466 (2011). The reviewing court on appeal may hold the error harmless if it is satisfied "beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error." *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. at 872 (quoting *State v. Bashaw*, 169 Wn.2d 133, 147, 234 P.3d 195 (2010), overruled on other grounds by, *State v. Nunez*, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012)). Even misleading instructions do not require reversal unless the complaining party can show prejudice. *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. 872.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

Markwith contends that the reasonable doubt jury instruction provided in this case was reversible error under our Supreme Court's *Bennett* decision. *Bennett* "instructed" trial courts "to use the WPIC 4.01 instruction ... until a better instruction is approved." *Bennett*, 61 Wn.2d at 318. The *Bennett* court, however, did not decide whether the failure to give the entire WPIC 4.01 was automatically reversible or instead subject to harmless error analysis.

Division One of the Court of Appeals, in *State v. Castillo*, 150 Wn. App. 466, 469, 208 P.3d 1201 (2009), has concluded that such failure is grounds for automatic reversal. *See* 150 Wn. App. at 472. Division Two of the Court of Appeals, however, reached the opposite conclusion in *State v. Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. 865, 871, 256 P.3d 466 (2011), and held that failure to give WPIC 4.01 verbatim was subject to harmless error analysis. *Lundy*, 162 Wn. App. at 872–73.

Neither party in the instant case highlighted the State's burden of proof, and neither party suggested that Markwith had any burden of proving or disproving anything at trial. Here, contrary to the facts of *Castillo*, the State never tried to shift its burden of proof. *Castillo* at 473. Additionally, *Castillo* involved a potentially confusing jury instruction,

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

but the instruction in the instant case did not contain any such misleading or confusing alterations. *Id.* at 470-71; CP 27.

Finally, the State's instruction to the jury in the instant case contained the following language: "The State of Washington is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." CP 27. This language clearly states that the State bore the burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

In light of the instructions as a whole and the arguments of the attorneys, Markwith has failed to demonstrate that omission of the "defendant has no burden" sentence from the instruction caused him prejudice, especially in light of the fact that the State never attempted to shift the burden of proof to him, the fact that the jury was aware that the State bore the burden, and the fact that the evidence supporting his conviction was overwhelming. The circumstances show beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would not have differed had the trial court included the additional "defendant has no burden" sentence in its reasonable doubt instruction. Accordingly, the State contends that omission of this sentence was harmless error.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

3. Markwith contends that certain trial testimony constituted improper propensity evidence, but Markwith did not preserve this issue with an objection in the trial court. Additionally, the State contends that the evidence was not propensity evidence and that it was admissible as *res gestae* evidence relevant to the crimes of conviction.

Markwith contends that the jury received improper propensity evidence when it received evidence that she broke the rear window of the victim's car the night before she committed the crimes charged in the instant case. Br. of Appellant at 15-16. Markwith did not preserve this issue with an objection in the trial court, but she contends that the issue may be raised for the first time on appeal because, she contends, "[t]he use of propensity evidence to prove a crime may violate due process under the Fourteenth Amendment." Br. of Appellant at 14.

To support this contention, Markwith cites *Garceau v. Woodford*, 275 F.3d 769 (9th Cir.2001), *reversed on other grounds by Woodford v. Garceau*, 538 U.S. 202, 123 S.Ct. 1398, 155 L.Ed.2d 363 (2003). Br. of Appellant at 14. However, this Court is bound only by decisions of our state Supreme Court and nonsupervisory decisions of the United States Supreme Court. *In re Pers. Restraint of Crace*, 157 Wn. App. 81, 98 n. 7,

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

236 P.3d 914 (2010), reversed on other grounds, 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012).

Under RAP 2.5(a)(3) an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal unless it is a manifest error that effects a constitutional right. *State* v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). During trial, there were several brief references to the fact that Markwith had busted out the back glass of Bell's car. RP 134, 135, 153, 169, 170, 171, 172. But there are no citations to an objection to this testimony in the trial court. "A trial court does not err in considering evidence that a defendant has not moved to suppress." State v. Jones, 163 Wn. App. 354, 364, 266 P.3d 886 (2011) review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1009, 268 P.3d 941 (2012), citing State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 468, 901 P.2d 286 (1995). Generally, an objection to propensity evidence should be made under ER 404. See, e.g., State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 39 P.3d 294 (2002). Evidentiary errors are not of constitutional magnitude. *State v.* Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 84, 206 P.3d 321 (2009); State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986); State v. Jackson, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). Because Markwith did not object to the evidence's admission at trial, the court should not review it on appeal. Id.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 18 -

Additionally, even if evidence of the breaking of the window was constitutional error, which it is not, it would nevertheless not be error that is "manifest" on the facts of the instant case. To establish manifest constitutional error, Markwith must both identify a constitutional error and make a showing that the error negatively affected her rights at trial. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926–27, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). "It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error 'manifest,' allowing appellate review." *Id.* at 927. Thus, Markwith bears the burden of showing that the alleged error had "practical and identifiable consequences in the trial...." *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007) (internal quotation marks omitted). Markwith has not shown actual error.

Markwith argues that the trial court erred by not giving a limiting instruction regarding this evidence. Br. of Appellant at 15. But Markwith did not request a limiting instruction, and the court is not required to *sua sponte* give such an instruction. *State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 124, 249 P.3d 604 (2011). There is no reversible error for failure to give a limiting

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

instruction where none was requested. *State v. Hess*, 86 Wn.2d 51, 52, 541 P.2d 1222 (1975).

The evidence was not propensity evidence. Evidence of Markwith breaking out the window of the car was relevant and admissible because it showed a continuing course of action by Markwith. *State v. Grier*, 168 Wn. App. 635, 648-49, 278 P.3d 225 (2012). Evidence of Markwith's actions and behavior in the hours leading up to her crimes of conviction explained her jealousy, her anger, and her intent, and thereby helped to "set the stage" for the assault against Angela Tecpile. *Id.* at 648, quoting *State v. Schaffer*, 63 Wn. App. 761, 770, 822 P.2d 292 (1991), *aff'd*, 120 Wn.2d 616, 845 P.2d 281 (1993). Thus, evidence of the broken window "explained parts of the whole story which otherwise would have remained unexplained." *Grier* at 649, quoting *State v. Mutchler*, 53 Wn. App. 898, 902, 771 P.2d 1168 (1989). As such, this evidence showed nothing about Markwith's character or propensity to commit crime; instead, it showed a series of events that explained her intent.

Finally, although the State contends that no error occurred, even if admission of this evidence was error, the error was harmless. Such error would be harmless if there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 20 -

the trial would have been different had the error not occurred. *State v. Jackson*, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984). The jury heard ample evidence to support each of the crimes of conviction; thus, admission of this testimony would not affect the outcome of the trial within any reasonable probability. *State v. Grier*, 168 Wn. App. 635, 651-52, 278 P.3d 225 (2012).

4. Markwith contends that the trial court erred by admitting evidence in violation of ER 404, but Markwith failed to object on this basis in the trial court. Because Markwith's only objection was a generalized objection without specifying a basis, the error is not properly preserved for appeal. Additionally, the State contends that the evidence was not character evidence and that it was admissible as *res gestae* of the crimes of conviction.

During trial, Markwith asked the court to exclude evidence that the night before she committed the crimes charged in this case, Markwith had been intimidating Bell, which caused Bell to sleep in Angela Tecpile's house rather than sleep out in the barn with Markwith. RP 110. Without specifying any evidence rule or other basis for the motion, Markwith simply addressed the court as follows: "So I would ask that there – any testimony about that be excluded." RP 110.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

The court asked the prosecutor for a response, and the prosecutor began his response by stating, "Well, Your Honor, I think that it is relevant." RP 111. The prosecutor then went on to explain that this testimony was invited by Markwith when she insisted on introducing evidence that there had been an assault between Markwith and Angela the night before the charged crimes occurred in this case. RP 45, 111. The prosecutor explained as follows:

> And it goes directly to her state of mind, i.e. she wasn't afraid because she had - there had been no assault and she had basically fabricated a story to make it up because she was angry at Ms. Tecpile, so I think I think [sic] it certainly should come in.

RP 111.

The trial court then sought clarification, as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. I want to make sure that I'm not being – that I'm not confused here. So, Ms. - the issue that Mr. Sergi [Markwith's attorney] wants excluded, the evidence is Ms. Bell's fear of and the reason for that fear of Ms. Markwith? MR. SERGI: Right, the night before, April 23.

RP 111. There was still no reference to ER 404 or to any other evidence

rule by Markwith, by the court, or by the prosecutor.

Without reference to any evidence rule or other authority, the court

then ruled, with the following exchange:

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

The Court: I am going to allow that testimony to come in. Anything else?

MR. SERGI: I would take exception to that, for purposes of the record.

THE COURT: Exception noted. I think it goes to – it goes, actually, one, to Ms. Bell's state of mind and also as to why she was in the home. Alright, anything further before we bring in the jury?

RP 113. There was never any mention of any rule of evidence, and particularly no mention of ER 404, related to this defense motion. The only hint at the basis of Markwith's motion was the prosecutor's reference to "relevance," which was not disputed or corrected by the defense. RP

111.

On appeal, Markwith now contends that introduction of this evidence at trial violated ER 404(b). Br. of Appellant at 17-20. But Markwith failed to object on this basis at trial. RP 110-13. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appeal. *State v. Mason*, 160 Wn.2d 910, 933, 162 P.3d 396 (2007).

Additionally, contrary to Markwith's assertion on appeal, at trial the evidence was not offered to prove Markwith's character. RP 110-13. Instead, the evidence was offered and was admissible because it described a continuing course of action by Markwith. *State v. Grier*, 168 Wn. App. 635, 648-49, 278 P.3d 225 (2012). As in the State's argument in section

State's Response Brief Case No. 44461-5-II

three, above, this evidence was admissible because it was part of the *res* gestae of the offense. *Id.*

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